Supreme Court No. <u>93388-0</u> Court of Appeals No. 46795-0-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASH	IINGTON	-	
BRIAN MCEVOY,		-	
Petitioner,	ದ್ರ	20 S:	
v.	ž.	2016 JUL 14 STATE OF W	UND UND UND
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	DE PU	ガー・	
Respondent.	Y	WASHINGTON	
		<u> </u>	STR
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW			
STATE V. MCEVOY		-	

JOHN HENRY BROWNE Attorney for Petitioner

LAW OFFICES OF JOHN HENRY BROWNE, P.S.

Delmar Building, Suite #200
108 South Washington Street
Seattle, WA 98104-3414
(206)388-0777

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A.	Officer Opinion and Search Testimony
В.	Adoptive Admissions5
C.	The April 12, 2014 Mailbox Incident6
D.	Lesser Included Offense Instruction—Harassment7
E.	Felony Stalking7
F.	Division Two's Failure to Review
V.	ARGUMENT8
A.	Review is Required Because Division Two Failed to Properly Apply the Constitutional Harmless Error Test as to the Improper Officer Testimony on Guilt and Intent8
В	Review is Required Because Division Two Failed to Properly Apply the Constitutional Harmless Error Test to the Improperly Admitted Receipts, which is a Violation of the State and Federal Confrontation Clause and an Issue of Substantial Public Importance
C.	Review is Required Because Division Two Erred in Finding the Evidence Sufficient to Convict Mr. McEvoy of Violating a no Contact Order on April 12, 2014, which is a Significant Question of Constitutional Law

D.	Review is Required Because Division Two Erred in Findin the Evidence Sufficient to Convict Mr. McEvoy of Felon Stalking, a Significant Constitutional Question
E.	Review is Required Because Mr. McEvoy's Claim that the Rule that a Lesser Included Offense Instruction is Proper Only Where There is No Inference that the Defendant Committed the Greater Crime Conflicts with the Statutory Directive that if there is Doubt, the Defendant Shall Be Convicted of Only the Lowest Degree, is A Significant Constitutional Issue of Substantial Public Interest
F.	Division Two Erred in Finding that the Trial Court Properly Refused to Instruct on Misdemeanor Harassment As the Alleged Threat to Kill was Ambiguous and Open to Interpretation, a Significant Constitutional Issue
VI.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>In re Martinez</u> , 171 Wn.2d 354, 256 P.3d 277 (2011)14
Seattle v. May, 171 Wn.2d 847, 256 P.3d 1161 (2011)14
<u>State v. Aaron</u> , 57 Wn.App. 277, 787 P.2d 949 (1990)9-10
<u>State v. Bowerman</u> , 115 Wn.2d 794, 802 P.2d 116 (1990)18
State v. C.G., 150 Wn.2d 604, 80 P.3d 594 (2003)
State v. Condon, 182 Wn.2d 307, 343 P.3d 357 (2015)
State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)10-11
<u>State v. Edwards</u> , 131 Wn.App. 611, 128 P.3d 631 (2006)9
<u>State v. Fernandez–Medina</u> , 141 Wn.2d 448, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000)
<u>State v. Foley</u> , 174 Wash. 575, 25 P.2d 565 (1933)17
<u>State v. Gallagher</u> , 4 Wn.2d 437, 103 P.2d 1100 (1940)17
State v. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005)16
<u>State v. Gottstein</u> , 11 Wash. 600, 191 P. 766 (1920)17-18
<u>State v. Henderson</u> , 182 Wn.2d 734, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015)
<u>State v. Jasper</u> , 174 Wn.2d 96,, 271 P.3d 876 (2012)12
<u>State v. Johnson</u> , 185 Wn.App. 655, 342 P.3d 338 (2015)
State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn.App. 829, 230 P.3d 245 (2010)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES—cont'd

Page
<u>State v. Montgomery</u> , 163 Wn.2d 577, 183 P.3d 267 (2008)10
<u>State v. Neal</u> , 144 Wn.2d 600, 30 P.3d 1255 (2002)
State v. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d 885, 948 P.2d 381 (1997)18
State v. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d 191, 340 P.3d 213 (2014)
<u>State v. Snider</u> , 70 Wn.2d 326, 422 P.2d 816 (1967)17
State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 584 P.2d 382 (1978)17, 18
<u>State v. Ziegler</u> , 114 Wn.2d 533, 789 P.2d 79 (1990)12
FEDERAL AND OUT-OF-STATE CASES
FCX, Inc. v. Caudill, 85 N.C.App. 272, 354 S.E.2d 767 (1987)13
State v. Bonit, 2005-0795 (La. App. 1 Cir. 2/10/06), 928 So. 2d 63312
<u>United States v. Jefferson</u> , 925 F.2d 1242 (10th Cir. 1991)
<u>United States v. Ordonez</u> , 737 F.2d 793 (9th Cir. 1983)
<u>United States v. Tin Yat Chin</u> , 288 F. Supp. 2d 240 (E.D.N.Y. 2003), vacated in part, 371 F.3d 31 (2d Cir. 2004)
White Indus., Inc. v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 611 F.Supp. 1049 (W.D.Mo. 1985)
SECONDARY SOURCES
29A Am.Jur.2d § 815 (2015)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES—cont'd

Page
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
CONST. art. 1, § 3
CONST. art. 1, § 22
U.S. Const. amend. V11
U.S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
STATUTES, RULES, AND OTHERS
RCW 9A.04.100(2)
RCW 9A.44.128(5)7, 14
RCW 9A.46.2020
RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b)(ii)10
RCW 9A.46.110.6(b)15
RCW 9A.46.110(6)(c)15
RCW 10.14.020(2)
RCW 10.61.00616
RCW 26.5014
RCW 26.50.110(1)(a)(i)14

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Brian McEvoy, DOC #377945, respectfully requests that this Court accept review of Division Two's decision terminating review.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On June 14, 2016, Division Two entered an unpublished opinion in No. 46795-0-II affirming Mr. McEvoy's convictions, but remanding for resentencing due to a legal error by the trial court. See Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether Division Two erred in finding harmless error—particularly as to the harassment and stalking counts—where officers testified: "I determined that had he not been brought into custody, he was going to kill his wife"; they only dealt with "the worst of the worst"; "We know that great bodily harm and/or death is likely to occur or is imminent if this person is not apprehended"; it was "very serious what was going on"; there was an "imminent threat" of violence; they used "two-person cars because of concern for safety"; a SWAT team was activated; and they were "very, very concerned about the kids" and "very alarmed"?
- 2. Whether Division Two erred in finding harmless error—particularly as to the harassment and stalking counts—where the trial court admitted unauthenticated hotel, rental car, and airline receipts as adoptive admissions, Mr. McEvoy merely possessed the receipts, and the state argued that the receipts showed that he drove across the country with the intent to kill his wife?
- 3. Whether Division Two erred in finding the evidence sufficient to convict Mr. McEvoy of violating a no contact order on April 12, 2014 where the order specified that he could not come within 500 feet of the residence of Ms. McEvoy, but provided no address, and he retrieved mail from their former shared residence, but knew that she was residing elsewhere and would not be there?
- 4. Whether Division Two erred in finding the evidence sufficient to convict Mr. McEvoy of felony stalking based upon the April 12, 2014 mailbox incident which, even assuming it violated the order, was not intended to harass or annoy because Ms. McEvoy was not even residing there and he had no idea she would ever find out?

- 5. Whether Division Two erred in ignoring the conflict between RCW 9A.04.100(2)'s directive that when a jury has a reasonable doubt as to which degree of a crime a defendant committed it must convict on the lowest degree and the judicially-created rule that a lesser included offense instruction is proper when the evidence supports an inference that the defendant committed *only* the lesser included offense and not the charged crime and Mr. McEvoy provided specific argument and citation in his Amended Brief?
- 6. Whether Division Two erred in finding that the trial court properly refused to instruct the jury on the lesser included charge of misdemeanor harassment where Mr. McEvoy's alleged threat to kill was equivocal; Ms. McEvoy believed he was trying to find and *hurt* her; and the issue was thus a factual question for the jury?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Brian and Kara McEvoy were separating in the spring of 2014 after 19 years together, but he was having difficulty adjusting. He had already endured the loss of his career as a Kitsap County Sheriff's Office deputy, and he was now losing his family. He was also still recovering from a bad motorcycle accident for which he required surgery in late January to repair his severed Achilles tendons. These factors culminated in a series of terrible decisions that will forever plague him for the emotional and physical pain and suffering he caused his family and also because his bizarre actions were so aberrant and out-of-character.

On September 18, 2014, the jury in Kitsap County Superior Court No. 14-1-00674-6 acquitted Mr. McEvoy of attempted second degree rape and one count of violating a no contact order, but found that: on on April 9-10, 2014, he committed second degree and fourth assault, unlawful imprisonment, interfering with domestic violence reporting, and third

degree malicious mischief; on April 12, 2014, he committed one count each of felony harassment and violating a no contact order by visiting his mailbox; on May 13, 2014, he committed one count each of felony harassment and violating a no contact order by calling his wife and making threats; he committed felony stalking as based upon the two violations of a no contact order; and on May 19, 2014, he attempted to elude a pursuing police vehicle and unlawfully possessed a firearm in the second degree. The jury entered same household special verdicts on all counts and found that the second degree assault was within sight or sound of the victim's children. Despite Mr. McEvoy's lack of criminal history, the court imposed the maximum possible sentence of over 19 years.

On direct review, Division Two rejected Mr. McEvoy's claims that reversal was required, but remanded for resentencing in which the two no contact order violations would merge with felony stalking.

A. Officer Opinion and Search Testimony

Prior to trial, Mr. McEvoy moved to suppress all evidence of law enforcement efforts to locate and arrest him. App. A at 5-6. The concern was that lead case agent Detective Nicole Menge's factual recitation would permit the overly prejudicial inference that he drove across the country with intent to kill his wife. RP 65-68. The court partially granted the motion, but upon the state's motion, reconsidered and found that Mr. McEvoy's knowledge of police procedures made details of the search efforts admissible as evidence of consciousness of guilt. App. A at 5-6.

At trial, Menge testified that she had officers conduct periodic surveillance on the McEvoy residence and Ms. McEvoy's workplace. RP 212. After a colloquy prompted by several overruled defense objections, the court acknowledged Mr. McEvoy's standing objection. RP 215-16. Menge then testified that she investigated his cell phone, bank, and credit card records; contacted many local and federal police agencies; and contacted car rental companies. See App. A at 6; RP 218.

Lieutenant Detective Earl Smith testified that after the May 13 phone call and Mr. McEvoy's absence from a May 13 court date, there were "a lot more efforts" to find him. App. A at 5-6; RP 700. He believed that as Mr. McEvoy was back in Washington, the McEvoy family was no longer safe so he: assigned more personnel, sent out a statewide bulletin, and asked for assistance from other law enforcement agencies, including the United States Marshal Service for its tracking and surveillance Id. at 7; RP 700-703. Officers used "two-person cars capabilities. because of concern for safety"; Smith activated a SWAT team and deployed surveillance around the courthouse; officers called often "to ensure [Ms. McEvoy's] safety, the family's safety, officer safety, and even Mr. McEvoy's safety"; as it was "very serious what was going on" and he was "very, very concerned about the kids," he pulled them from school while a surveillance unit watched; surveillance teams were stationed around Ms. McEvoy's workplace; and a plain-clothes detective drove her car in hopes that Mr. McEvoy might follow. Id. at 7-8; RP 705-11.

Pacific Northwest Violent Offender Task Force Marshals Jacob Whitehurst and Raymond Fleck were assigned to the case. Whitehurst testified that they get involved only if there is "a violent or sex offense type crime, imminent threat type situation ... like, we know that great bodily injury and/or death is likely to occur or is imminent, if this person is not apprehended." Id. at 8; RP 727-28. Fleck was even more graphic, stating that his task force is "responsible for apprehending, for lack of a better term, the worst of the worst." Id.; RP 793. He approved the use of his unit after conducting a threat assessment and finding that: there was a homicide, imminent assault, or sex offense; "there was a potential for targeted act[s] of violence"; and Mr. McEvoy "posed an imminent threat." Id.; RP 793-99. He declared: "I determined that had he not been brought into custody, he was going to kill his wife." Id.; RP 809. Defense counsel again lodged objection, but to no avail. Id.

In closing, the state highlighted Fleck's threat assessment, the Marshal Service's limited resources, and his decision to accept the case. RP 917. The state also referenced Fleck's determination that Mr. McEvoy was going to kill his wife if left at large. RP 920.

B. Adoptive Admissions

During a search of Mr. McEvoy's vehicle, officers located receipts showing that: on April 19, 2014, he flew through Detroit to Vermont; on May 5, he rented a car in Burlington, Vermont; on May 8, he rented a hotel room in Albertville, Minnesota; on May 9, he stayed in Dickinson,

North Dakota; on May 10, he was in Missoula, Montana, and checked out on May 11. On May 12, he paid for a room in Tacoma. He returned the rental car to SeaTac Airport on May 13. On May 14, he paid for a room in SeaTac, and on May 15, he stayed in Tacoma. RP 320-34, 833-34.

Mr. McEvoy objected to this evidence as hearsay. RP 68. The court admitted the receipts as "adoptive admissions," but ordered redaction of any time stamps as "classic" unreliable hearsay. RP 250-54.

In closing, the state emphasized that the receipts showed that Mr. McEvoy "stewed, planned, calculated his way back to have his last reckoning with his wife." RP 917. By using his mom's credit cards—despite his own financial difficulties—the state argued that the only inference was that he was trying to avoid detection. RP 925. In closing reply, the state again referenced the receipts to argue that Mr. McEvoy traveled across the country to stalk and kill his wife. RP 1000-01.

C. The April 12, 2014 Mailbox Incident

On April 11, 2014 the court issued a no contact order prohibiting Mr. McEvoy from coming within 500 feet of his wife's "residence." RP 690. The order provided no address. RP 693. While Ms. McEvoy believed her "residence" was the home she formerly shared with Mr. McEvoy, she was staying with her mother at the time. RP 492-93.

The next day, neighbor William Blaylock saw Mr. McEvoy retrieve mail from the McEvoy home. Mr. McEvoy told him: "Well, I went to the mailbox to get my mail ... I'm not supposed to be here." RP

675-77. In a later interview, he stated that he picked a time when nobody would be home, and nobody was, in fact, home at the time. RP 336-37.

The defense proposed a jury instruction which defined "residence" based upon RCW 9A.44.128(5) as "a building that a person lawfully and habitually uses as a living quarters a majority of the week." RP 846-50. The court denied the proposed instruction. RP 863.

D. Lesser Included Offense Instruction—Harassment

On May 13, 2014, Mr. McEvoy called his wife at work; the conversation was recorded. During the call, Mr. McEvoy stated, among other, more mundane things: "[Y]ou've got a very short time on this earth. You better hope somebody finds me before I find you"; "I just hope you can, uh, live with the consequences of what's gonna happen"; "I'm gonna find you, Kara. You and I are going to have ne last reckoning, I guarantee that"; Hey, Kara, I'm gonna find you, that's all I gotta say." App. A at 4.

At trial, Ms. McEvoy shared that she thought her husband was "trying to find me and hurt me, and he was threatening ... [t]o kill me." She believed the threats. App. A at 22; RP 523. The court concluded that the sole inference was that Mr. McEvoy threatened to kill her, but opined: "If she had testified, 'I thought he was going to hurt me bad or that he might kill me' ... a lesser included might fit the facts ..." RP 868.

E. Felony Stalking

Mr. McEvoy conceded that his May 13, 2014 phone call constituted one harassing incident, but argued that the April 12, 2014

incident did not qualify because he knew no one was home, and no one was actually there. But, Division Two found, in "a much closer question," that because he had little mail there and kept a separate post office box, his prior actions "circumstantially demonstrated his intent to harass or follow Kara under the guise of checking the mail." App. A at 19-20.

F. Division Two's Failure to Review

Mr. McEvoy filed his Opening Brief on February 24, 2015. The following day, this Court filed its opinion in State v. Henderson, 182 Wn.2d 734, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015). On March 2, 2015, Mr. McEvoy filed an Amended Brief with three pages specifically devoted to argument that Henderson compels a trial court to err on the side of lenity when determining whether to grant an instruction on a lesser included offense. The Court commented only that "an issue of this magnitude requires much more briefing than Mr. McEvoy provided here." App. A at 21 n.9.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Review is Required Because Division Two Failed to Properly Apply the Constitutional Harmless Error Test as to the Improper Officer Testimony on Guilt and Intent

While Division Two properly held that admission of the egregious opinion statements by officers about Mr. McEvoy's guilt and intent was error, it somehow found such error harmless. This significant question of state and federal constitutional law mandates review.

¹ The Court also dismissed Mr. McEvoy's claim that the state's argument incorporating the offensive testimony was improper, App. A at 13 n.4. But, he had a standing objection. RP 215-16; See State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn.App. 829, 853 n.18, 230 P.3d 245 (2010).

Whitehurst and Fleck's impermissible opinions on guilt and intent violated Mr. McEvoy's "constitutional right to have a critical fact to his guilt determined by the jury." State v. Quaale, 182 Wn.2d 191, 201-202, 340 P.3d 213 (2014). Such error is harmless "only if the State establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result absent the error." Id. at 202. But, it seems impossible that testimony that the Marshals deal only with the "worst of the worst" imminent threats and Mr. McEvoy would kill his wife if left at large, which the state emphasized in closing, could possibly be harmless.

Division Two, paradoxically, analogized Fleck's declaration to a similar statement in State v. Edwards, 131 Wn.App. 611, 613, 128 P.3d 631 (2006). App. A at 12-13. But, on analogous facts, the Edwards Court found reversible error. In Edwards, an informant told an officer that "Olin" dealt cocaine and provided Olin's contact number. Id. at 613. The police set up a controlled buy, identified who they believed to be "Olin Sorensen," obtained a search warrant, instead found Olin H. Edwards, and arrested him. The defendant moved to exclude the officer's testimony about the informant, but was denied. The jury convicted on possession with intent to deliver, but could not render verdicts on the two delivery counts. On retrial, the jury convicted on both delivery counts. Id. The Edwards made short order in finding reversible error. Id. at 614-616.

In <u>State v. Aaron</u>, a burglary case, the Court found that admission of police dispatch hearsay that the defendant used a blue jeans jacket to

push through bushes was reversible error where officers found the jacket on the front seat of a car the defendant had just exited and located evidence of the burglary in it. 57 Wn.App. 277, 787 P.2d 949 (1990). As the inadmissible hearsay directly tied the defendant to the jacket and possession of the stolen items, it was reversible error. Id. at 282-83.

In Quaale, finally, a DUI prosecution, the Court found that an officer's opinion that he had "no doubt the defendant was impaired" as based solely upon the HGN field sobriety test was reversible error. 182 Wn.2d at 197-201. Because the officer's assertion "cast an aura of scientific certainty," significantly increasing the weight the jury likely attached to it," the error could not be harmless. Id. at 202.

Here, in order to find Mr. McEvoy guilty of felony harassment for his statements in his May 13, 2014 phone call, the jury had to find that he threatened to kill his wife. See RCW 9A.46.020(2)(b)(ii). There was, however, no definitive threat to kill, but rather only ambiguous threats. Ms. McEvoy actually stated that she thought he was going to hurt her—not kill her. The jury then heard that the law enforcement agent who actually confronted Mr. McEvoy, looked him in the face, and caused his arrest was sure he was going to kill his wife. That officer testimony "carries an aura of reliability," State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 595, 183 P.3d 267 (2008), and that the court's overruling of timely and specific objections "lent an aura of legitimacy to what was otherwise improper argument," State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 764, 675 P.2d 1213

(1984), further amplified the prejudice. The state also emphasized Fleck's quasi-scientific threat assessment and subsequent opinion on guilt in closing. This is surely reversible error calling for this Court's review.

And, this incident also supported the stalking conviction, which also must be reversed due to the constitutionally violative testimony.

Given, finally, the egregious nature of the testimony, which infected the entire trial, reversal of all counts is the remedy.²

B. Review is Required Because Division Two Failed to Properly Apply the Constitutional Harmless Error Test to the Improperly Admitted Receipts, which is a Violation of the State and Federal Confrontation Clause and an Issue of Substantial Public Importance

Although Division Two assumed, correctly, that the trial court erred in admitting hotel, rental car, and airline receipts as adoptive admissions, the Court perpetuated such error by finding harmless error. The receipts, offered to show that Mr. McEvoy travelled across the country, violated his state and federal rights to confrontation and fair trial. Const. art. I §§ 3, 22; U.S. Const. Amend. V-VI. That the trial court admitted the receipts as adoptive admissions where the issue is open in this state is an issue of substantial public interest for this Court.

² Division Two also erred in finding the search effort testimony proper because the trial court failed to apply the correct test and confidently find the following inferences: "(1) from the defendant's behavior to flight; (2) from flight to consciousness of guilt; (3) from consciousness of guilt to consciousness of guilt concerning the crime charged; and (4) from consciousness of guilt concerning the crime charged to actual guilt of the crime charged." McDaniel, 155 Wn.App. at 854. Admission of this irrelevant and prejudicial evidence was reversible error, especially in conjunction with the other errors, and Division Two's decision thus conflicts with other appellate decisions.

Under the Sixth Amendment, testimonial evidence against a defendant is prohibited unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity for cross-examination. State v. Jasper, 174 Wn.2d 96, 109, 271 P.3d 876 (2012) (citation omitted). "Testimony" means a "solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact." Id. (citation omitted). Here, then, the receipts without foundation or additional testimony—were an affirmation made to prove that Mr. McEvoy did, in fact, travel by rental car from Vermont to Washington and violated his confrontation rights. See, e.g., United States v. Tin Yat Chin, 288 F. Supp. 2d 240, 242 (E.D.N.Y. 2003) ("Papers kept by an individual solely for personal reasons do not qualify as business records"), vacated in part, 371 F.3d 31 (2d Cir. 2004) (finding that the district court imposed too high of a bar for authentication); State v. Bonit, 2005-0795 (La. App. 1 Cir. 2/10/06), 928 So. 2d 633, 640 (finding a confrontation error where the trial court admitted evidence as a business record without testimony by a witness with personal knowledge to show how the record was made or if it was identical to the computer record).

And, while business records are "presumptively reliable if made in the regular course of business with no motive to falsify," <u>State v. Ziegler</u>, 114 Wn.2d 533, 538, 789 P.2d 79 (1990), the trial court's redaction of the as unreliable dooms any argument that the receipts are business records.

The error permitted the state to provide a city-by-city travelogue of how Mr. McEvoy left Vermont and traveled overland across the country with the intention of killing of his wife—information unknown to Ms. McEvoy and thus irrelevant and especially prejudicial as to the harassment and stalking counts. Particularly in conjunction with the testimony that Mr. McEvoy was the "worst of the worst," an "imminent threat," and he would kill his wife if not arrested, this evidence materially affected the outcome of the case, mandates reversal, and warrants review. See State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255 (2002).

This issue of whether mere possession evinces an intent to adopt the contents of a document is open in Washington and of substantial public interest. The weight of authority is that it does not. See, e.g., United States v. Ordonez, 737 F.2d 793 (9th Cir. 1983); United States v. Jefferson, 925 F.2d 1242 (10th Cir. 1991); 29A Am.Jur.2d § 815 (2015) ("... generally, mere possession of a written document does not necessarily constitute an adoption of its contents") (citing White Indus., Inc. v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 611 F.Supp. 1049 (W.D.Mo. 1985); FCX, Inc. v. Caudill, 85 N.C.App. 272, 354 S.E.2d 767 (1987)).

C. Review is Required Because Division Two Erred in Finding the Evidence Sufficient to Convict Mr. McEvoy of Violating a no Contact Order on April 12, 2014, which is a Significant Question of Constitutional Law

Division Two erred in (1) concluding—without analysis—that the evidence was sufficient and (2) refusing to consider Mr. McEvoy's constitutional claims. App A. at 17 n.6.

"A conviction based on insufficient evidence contravenes the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment ..." <u>In re Martinez</u>, 171 Wn.2d 354, 364, 256 P.3d 277 (2011) (citations omitted). The question is whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Id</u>. (citations omitted). RCW 26.50, though, does not define residence. Nor does RCW 26.50.110(1)(a)(i) penalize a restrained party's personal belief; an actual violation is required.

Here, Mr. McEvoy was convicted of violating a no contact order which did not specify the address of the prohibited residence. The order stated only that he could not be within 500 feet of Ms. McEvoy's residence. On April 9, Ms. McEvoy moved in with her mother, with whom she resided on April 12. The proverbial catch-22 is that Mr. McEvoy would seemingly have been in violation had he gone within 500 feet of his mother-in-law's residence *or* their former shared home.

As part of its gatekeeping role, then, the trial court should have excluded the order because it could not "be constitutionally applied to the charged conduct" and "fail[ed] to give [Mr. McEvoy] fair warning of the relevant prohibited conduct." Seattle v. May, 171 Wn.2d 847, 854, 256 P.3d 1161 (2011). To rectify the error, the defense proposed an instruction defining residence as based upon what the Legislature iterated in RCW 9A.44.128(5), which the court declined. Given his lack of due process notice, reversal is required and this Court's review is warranted.

D. Review is Required Because Division Two Erred in Finding the Evidence Sufficient to Convict Mr. McEvoy of Felony Stalking, a Significant Constitutional Question

Division Two erred in finding the evidence sufficient to support a felony stalking conviction because Mr. McEvoy committed only one qualifying act of harassment. App. A at 17 n.7, 18-19. For conviction, the evidence had to demonstrate that on at least two occasions, Mr. McEvoy harassed or followed his wife in violation of a protection order. State v. Johnson, 185 Wn.App. 655, 669-70, 342 P.3d 338 (2015). "Harass" means willful conduct towards a specific person which "seriously alarms, annoys, harasses, or is detrimental ... and which serves no legitimate or unlawful purpose." RCW 10.14.020(2); RCW 9A.46.110(6)(c). "Follow" means "deliberately maintaining visual or physical proximity to a specific person over a period of time." RCW 9A.46.110.6(b).

As argued above, the April 12 incident was not a violation because the order was void for lack of due process notice. And, as Mr. McEvoy knew nobody was home and had the lawful purpose of retrieving his mail, he neither harassed nor followed Ms. McEvoy. It is only by happenstance that she even discovered the action, for had Mr. McEvoy not encountered Blaylock, nobody would have been any the wiser. While Mr. McEvoy did maintain a post office box where he had some documents sent, he did have correspondence in the mailbox. As the conviction thus lacks sufficient factual foundation, reversal is required and review is warranted.

E. Review is Required Because Mr. McEvoy's Claim that the Rule that a Lesser Included Offense Instruction is Proper Only Where There is No Inference that the Defendant Committed the Greater Crime Conflicts with the Statutory Directive that if there is Doubt, the Defendant Shall Be Convicted of Only the Lowest Degree, is A Significant Constitutional Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Division Two declined to consider whether the court-created rule that instruction on a lesser included offense is required where the evidence supports an inference that the defendant committed *only* the lesser—to the exclusion of the charged crime—is in conflict with RCW 9A.04.100(2) because Mr. McEvoy offered insufficient briefing. App. A at 21 n.9. This was a significant error of constitutional law and is a mater of substantial importance beckoning for this Court's review.

Both the defendant and the state "have a statutory right to present lesser included offense instructions to the jury." State v. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d 457, 462, 114 P.3d 646 (2005); RCW 10.61.006; RCW 9A.04.100(2). The option to convict on a lesser included offense is

crucial to the integrity of our criminal justice system because when defendants are charged with only one crime, juries must either convict them of that crime or let them go free. In some cases, that will create a risk that the jury will convict the defendant despite having reasonable doubts ... To minimize that risk, we err on the side of instructing juries on lesser included offenses.

Henderson, 182 Wn.2d at 736. A jury thus "must be allowed to consider a lesser included offense if the evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the defendant, raises an inference that the defendant

committed the lesser crime instead of the greater crime." <u>Id.</u> (citing State v. Fernandez–Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455–56, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000)).

But, the requirement that the defendant must commit only the lesser offense—to the exclusion of the charged crime—is a recently fabricated rule with no legal foundations, was wrong upon its inception, and is contrary to both statute and a defendant's constitutional rights.

1. The Classic *Workman* Test for Lesser Included Offenses

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