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

V. ARGUMENT 

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE 
COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE NONE 
OF THE ISSUES ACTUALLY PRESENTED TO THE 
COURT OF APPEALS WAS INCORRECTLY 
DECIDED.   

1. None of the considerations governing acceptance of 
review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) supports acceptance of 
review. 

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court’s 

acceptance of review:   

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme 
Court only:  (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or  (2) If the 
decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 
decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3)  
If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the 
State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or 
(4)  If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

Although McEvoy references these considerations, none of the 

considerations supports acceptance of review. 
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2. McEvoy may not seek review of his claim that admission 
of certain receipts was a constitutional violation where 
that claim was not raised in the Court of Appeals.   

 A claim not presented to the Court of Appeals cannot be raised for 

the first time in a motion for discretionary review.  State v. Halstien, 122 

Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993).  McEvoy nevertheless asserts 

review is warranted because the Court of Appeals failed to apply the 

constitutional harmless error standard to his claim that the trial court erred 

in admitting the travel receipts found in McEvoy’s car.  McEvoy never 

raised this issue in the Court of Appeals.  Instead he argued only that there 

was evidentiary error.  Brief of Appellant at 31-35.  Nor did he ever claim 

that the constitutional harmless error applied.  Indeed, although he argued 

that the error was not harmless, he cited no standard whatsoever in his 

argument.  Id., at 35-36.    

3. McEvoy fails to show that the receipts were testimonial. 

 Moreover, even if the purported Confrontation Clause issue had 

been presented below, it would be without merit.  Under Crawford, the 

Sixth Amendment comes into play only in the case of testimonial hearsay.  

These records were clearly not testimonial, as the Crawford Court noted:  

certain statements “by their nature [are] not testimonial—for example, 

business records.”  Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 56, 124 S. Ct. 

1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004).  The United States Supreme Court 

reaffirmed this principle in Melendez–Diaz: 
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Business and public records are generally admissible absent 
confrontation not because they qualify under an exception 
to the hearsay rules, but because—having been created for 
the administration of an entity’s affairs and not for the 
purpose of establishing or proving some fact at trial—they 
are not testimonial . 

Melendez–Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 310-11, 324, 129 S. Ct. 

2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009) (emphasis added); see also Howard v. 

State, 2016 Ark. App. 69,  482 S.W.3d 741, 745 (2016) (pawn ticket and 

the game shop receipts were not testimonial statements);  State v. 

Jennings, 125 Conn. App. 801, 9 A.3d 446, 457 (2011) (store receipt is 

not testimonial statement).   

 Although the receipts were admitted as adoptive admissions rather 

than business records in this case,1 McEvoy fails to even offer a plausible 

explanation for how they should be deemed testimonial such that a Sixth 

Amendment issue is presented.  As such, even if the claim had been raised 

in the Court of Appeals, McEvoy would fail to demonstrate an appropriate 

basis for review.   

4. McEvoy fails to show a basis for modifying this Court’s 
rules regarding the giving of instructions in lesser 
offenses.   

 McEvoy also urges this Court to consider an issue for which he 

provided inadequate briefing below.  He faults the Court of Appeals for 

                                                 
1 The Court of Appeals did not address the propriety of this trial ruling.  Op. at 20.  The 
State maintains the trial court acted within its discretion, as set forth in its brief below.  
Brief of Respondent at 22-27.   
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not considering his contention that that court should abandon the well-

settled rule that to be entitled to a lesser-offense instruction, there must be 

evidence from which the jury could conclude that the lesser offense was 

committed to the exclusion of the greater.  See State v. Workman, 90 

Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978);  State v. Fernandez–Medina, 

141 Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000);  State v. Henderson, 182 

Wn.2d 734, 736, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015).   

 In his brief, McEvoy essentially cited only to the dissent in 

Henderson, which had been decided less than a month before McEvoy 

filed his amended brief.  Brief of Appellant at 45-47.  The Court of 

Appeals properly declined to entertain this inadequate challenge.  

Moreover, it is not apparent that that court had the authority to alter this 

Court’s long-standing precedent.  1000 Virginia Ltd. P’ship v. Vertecs 

Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 590, 146 P.3d 423 (2006) (Court of Appeals is 

bound by Supreme Court precedent). 

 Further, McEvoy asserts a conflict between the long-standing 

precedent of this court and RCW 9A.04.100, which addresses not 

instructing on lesser offenses but the State’s burden of proof.  He fails to 

show any conflict between this Court’s precedent and the statutes that 

actually govern lesser-included and lesser-degree offenses, RCW 

10.61.003, RCW 10.61.006, and RCW 10.61.010.   
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 McEvoy also fails to directly address why this admittedly long-

standing precedent is incorrect and clearly harmful, both of which this 

Court requires before abandoning stare decisis.  See State v. Otton, ___ 

Wn.2d ___, 374 P.3d 1108, 1110-11 (2016).  Nor has McEvoy shown that 

“the legal underpinnings of [the Court’s] precedent have changed or 

disappeared altogether.”  Id. (quoting W.G. Clark Constr. Co. v. Pac. Nw. 

Reg’l Council of Carpenters, 180 Wn.2d 54, 66, 322 P.3d 1207 (2014)) 

(editing added).  As such McEvoy does not present a compelling case for 

review.   

5. McEvoy’s remaining contentions were correctly decided 
below.   

 The remainder of McEvoy’s contentions are indistinguishable from 

the claims he presented below.  Suffice it to say that the holdings of the 

Court of Appeals and the State’s briefing below refute his contentions.  He 

fails to demonstrate that the court below committed any error justifying 

further review in this Court.   
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VI. CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the 

Court deny McEvoy’s petition for review.